FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/1/2021 2:17 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 99465-0

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 80084-I)

TEN BRIDGES LLC,
an Oregon limited liability company,

Petitioner,

v.

TERESIA GUANDAI and MIDAS MULLIGAN, LLC, et al.,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Alexander S. Kleinberg, WSBA # 34449 EISENHOWER CARLSON PLLC 909 A Street, Suite 600 Tacoma, WA 98402 Telephone: (253) 572-4500

Facsimile: (253) 372-4500

Attorneys for Petitioner Ten Bridges LLC

I. INTRODUCTION

Ten Bridges LLC works nationally to locate surplus proceeds from foreclosure sales and to identify those individuals who have a right to assert a claim to these funds or redeem the realty that was sold, many of whom for various reasons — lack the awareness, desire, or financial wherewithal to pursue the money for themselves or exercise their right of redemption to buy back the foreclosed property. The Attorney General of Washington filed an amicus brief in this case that suggests Ten Bridges has violated RCW 63.29.350, which prohibits the charging of an excessive finder's fee to locate abandoned property. This statute provides the charging of an excessive finder's fee is a violation of the consumer protection act and a criminal offense. The Northwest Justice Project ("NJP") and Northwest Consumer Law Center ("NCLC") also filed amicus briefs in this case, and these groups have accused Ten Bridges of "equity skimming" and otherwise illegally taking advantage of homeowners in distress. In making these arguments, the amici essentially argue RCW 63.29.350 should be weaponized and used against companies like Ten Bridges to put a halt to their operations in cases like this where the legislature never intended the statute to be applied. Ten Bridges submits the attorney general is mistaken, and that RCW 63.29.350 does not apply in this case for three different reasons. As for the consumer groups' complaints, they are misplaced for a variety of reasons, as they do not give effect to the plain meaning of the statute at issue and these organizations do not appreciate the substantial risk and expense that Ten Bridges must take on when it comes to locating, evaluating, and purchasing the rights of individuals like Respondents Yukiko Asano and Teresia Guandai. ¹

The consumer groups also fail to grasp the world of difference between obtaining surplus proceeds from a tax foreclosure sale and the pursuit of surplus proceeds in a case like this. All surplus proceeds from tax foreclosure sales are specifically earmarked for the property owner of record. These funds cannot be garnished or otherwise reached by creditors and belong to the taxpayer of record. All the taxpayer needs to do to get the funds is submit a simple form to the county treasurer. In contrast, the party that is entitled to surplus proceeds from foreclosure sales of the kind held in this case cannot be determined unless and until that party has filed a motion to disburse funds in superior court, given notice of its motion to all parties in interest, and a court — as opposed to a county clerk or a clerk at the Department of Revenue — has determined exactly who is entitled to the funds based on the respective interests in the property that were foreclosed.

-

¹ The substantial risk and expense that Ten Bridges takes on in conducting its business is discussed in Ten Bridges's answers to the consumer groups' amicus briefs.

In *Asano*, Ten Bridges never filed any such motion. All Ten Bridges really did in that case was to tender some \$376,000 of its own money to the sheriff in an attempt to redeem Ms. Asano's former home from Madrona Lisa, LLC. The trial court erred in holding Ten Bridges has no right of redemption under either one of the deeds that Ms. Asano executed in its favor.

Further, Ten Bridges did not charge Ms. Asano or Ms. Guandai an excessive finder's fee to locate the surplus proceeds from the sale of their homes in contravention of RCW 63.29.350. Ten Bridges has literally received no money whatsoever from these individuals. It even disclosed to these individuals up front the location and existence of the surplus proceeds from the sale of their homes — *free of charge*. At that time, these individuals could have done then what many other homeowners have done and pursued these funds at their own expense, at their own risk, and without the involvement of Ten Bridges. Instead, they opted to sell their rights to Ten Bridges.

The legislative history and related materials of interest support Ten Bridges's interpretation of the statute. House Bill Report 2428 of the amendments to RCW 63.29.350 notes under the "Title" section toward the top of the first page that the recent amendments to RCW 63.29.350 are "[a]n act relating to fees for locating surplus funds from county governments, real

estate property taxes, assessments, and other government lien foreclosures or charges." ² (Emphasis added). The Summary of Bill set forth on page 3 of HB 2428 states "The act eliminates the blanket exemption from the [Uniform Unclaimed Property Act] regulations as they apply to excess, unclaimed proceeds from property tax foreclosures, assessments, and liens held by counties, cities, and other municipalities." (Emphasis supplied). It also appears former Attorney General of Washington Rob McKenna agreed that RCW 63.29.350 concerns surplus proceeds from governmental foreclosures as opposed to surplus proceeds of the kind generated in this case. As seen from Mr. McKenna's office's AG Request Legislation – 2010 Session concerning HB 2428, the 2010 amendments to RCW 63.29.350 stemmed from the problem of "Families who have lost their homes in tax foreclosures are vulnerable to individuals seeking to take the remaining sale proceeds" and in such sales, "Any money left over rightfully belongs to the original owner." https://agportals3bucket.s3.amazonaws.com/uploadedfiles/Home/Office Initiatives/Legis lative Agenda/2010/Found Money Cap.pdf (last visited February 1, 2021). Mr. McKenna's office noted there are firms that seek to take

² House Bill Report HB 2428 is available online at http://lawfilesext.leg.wa.gov/biennium/2009-10/Pdf/Bill%20Reports/House/2428%20HBR%20PL%2010.pdf (last visited February 1, 2021).

advantage of people in these situations with a "typical scenario" occurring "when a county sells vacant land due to non-payment of taxes" and that the attorney general "proposes amending RCW 63.29.350 to cap any 'finder's fee' from such property tax surplus transactions." The legislative history to the amendments to RCW 63.29.350 shows the legislature never intended the statute to apply in cases like this.

If the Court of Appeals's opinion is upheld, the determination that RCW 63.29.350 applies in judicial foreclosure lawsuits like this will have widespread and unintended negative consequences throughout Washington. Given the prevalence of foreclosures in this state, and the importance of the issues presented in this case, the court's error raises issues of substantial public interest, and it warrants review and correction by this Court.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is Appellant Ten Bridges LLC ("Ten Bridges").

III. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

On October 26, 2020, the Washington Court of Appeals issued a published opinion affirming the trial court's denial of Ten Bridges's motions to set the redemption price in the *Asano* case and affirming the order disbursing surplus proceeds in the linked *Guandai* case. The Court of Appeals denied Ten Bridges's motions for reconsideration on December 31, 2020.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the reach of the statute that makes it a violation of the consumer protection act and a crime to charge an excessive finder's fee for locating abandoned property can be discerned from the conduct of parties to a contract as opposed to the actual text of the statute.

Whether a deed to real property that contains all of the statutory requirements for a conveyance and specifically states it is a standalone agreement is illegal and void because a prior deed between the parties was held to be illegal and void.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The *Guandai* and *Asano* appeals are linked cases that came before the Court of Appeals by way of two foreclosure actions that stem from unpaid condominium assessments. Both actions resulted in surplus proceeds that were deposited into the superior court registry. These cases came before the Court of Appeals on Ten Bridges's appeal of the ruling on its motion to disburse surplus proceeds in the *Guandai* case and its appeal of the rulings on two motions to set the redemption price filed in the *Asano* case. In both cases, the trial court summarily determined the Guandai and Asano quitclaim deeds are void and unenforceable because they violate RCW 63.29.350. RCW 63.29.350 is entitled Penalty for excessive fee for locating abandoned property – Consumer protection act ("CPA")

application, and is part of the Uniform Unclaimed Property Act that Washington has adopted along with most other states. This statute makes it a CPA violation and a crime to charge an excessive fee for locating abandoned property. RCW 63.29.350 provides as follows:

- (1) It is unlawful for any person to seek or receive from any person or contract with any person for any fee or compensation for locating or purporting to locate any property which he or she knows has been reported or paid or delivered to the department of revenue pursuant to this chapter, or funds held by a county that are proceeds from a foreclosure for delinquent property taxes, assessments, or other liens ... Any person violating this section is guilty of a misdemeanor and shall be fined not less than the amount of the fee or charge he or she has sought or received or contracted for, and not more than ten times such amount, or imprisoned for not more than thirty days, or both.
- (2) The legislature finds that the practices covered by this section are matters vitally affecting the public interest for the purpose of applying the consumer protection act, chapter 19.86 RCW. <u>Any violation of this section is not reasonable in relation to the development and preservation of business. It is an unfair or deceptive act in trade or commerce and an unfair method of competition for the purpose of applying the consumer protection act, chapter 19.86 RCW. Remedies provided by chapter RCW are cumulative and not exclusive.</u>

RCW 63.29.350(1) (emphasis added).

Ten Bridges has argued RCW 63.29.350 is inapplicable here for three reasons, one being that Ten Bridges never charged Ms. Guandai or Ms. Asano a fee "for locating or purporting to locate any property," as it has literally never received any money at all from these individuals. Ten Bridges disclosed the location and existence of the surplus proceeds in the

quit claim deeds up front and free of charge. Ten Bridges has noted Ms. Guandai and Ms. Asano were free to read of and learn about the nature and existence of the surplus proceeds in the deeds and then decline to execute them in order to pursue the surplus proceeds on their own and at their own Nevertheless, the trial court essentially entered summary expense. judgment against Ten Bridges based on this statute even though no such motion was ever filed. On appeal, the NJP, NCLC, and Attorney General of the State of Washington filed amicus briefs in opposition to Ten Bridges's position. In their motion for leave to file an amicus brief, the NJP and NCLC stated their intent to address "the elements of equity-stripping schemes such as the one perpetrated by Ten Bridges ... and the impact of such schemes on communities of color." In his motion for leave to file an amicus brief, Attorney General Robert Ferguson noted his "strong interest in protecting distressed Washington consumers experiencing the foreclosure of a home or other residential real property from equity skimming schemes." The attorney general also noted "[t]o that end, the Attorney General requested the now-enacted 2010 amendments to RCW 63.29.350, which impose a cap on fees associated with the recovery of surplus proceeds due to a homeowner after foreclosure." But the attorney general failed to mention that the previous attorney general's request for a

change to the statute stemmed from a concern over proceeds from property tax foreclosures as opposed to surplus proceeds from the kind of foreclosure that occurred in this case.

The opinion the Court of Appeals issued in this case held the quitclaim deeds Ms. Guandai and Ms. Asano provided to Ten Bridges violated RCW 63.29.350 and were therefore unlawful and unenforceable. The opinion determined "[t]he statute's plain language does not support Ten Bridges" and its view that the phrase "other liens" in the statute refers only to liens held by governmental entities. ³ The opinion further determined the statutory language "funds held by a county" includes funds held by a county clerk under the purview of a court. ⁴ The opinion also concluded RCW 63.29.350 applies in cases like that and that the statute is not limited to cases involving the foreclosure of governmental as opposed to non-governmental liens despite the fact that all of the legislative history Ten Bridges has cited to regarding the 2010 statutory amendments shows the amendments went into effect based solely on a concern about homeowners losing their equity in property tax foreclosures as opposed to cases like this.

The opinion also concluded Ten Bridges's contention it did not locate funds for Ms. Asano or Ms. Guandai for a fee or compensation

³ Opinion at 10.

⁴ Opinion at 12-13.

because it discovered the funds' positions before contracting with them and even disclosed the positions for free fails because "this argument relies on a narrow, superficial interpretation of the statute." ⁵ The opinion then applied the substance over form test from case law to hold that even if "Ten Bridges disclosed the funds' locations for free, the statute still applies if Ten Bridges used its knowledge from having located the funds as part of a scheme to compensate itself with more than five percent of the value of the funds." ⁶

The opinion also held the second quitclaim deed from Ms. Asano, which does not contain any reference to or provision for the division of surplus proceeds, violated RCW 63.29.350 because the first Asano quitclaim deed violated the statute and the parties intended that the second deed change nothing from the first. ⁷ In doing so, the opinion noted the second deed recites it was in consideration of zero dollars and that when it proposed the second deed, Ten Bridges told Ms. Asano it would have no effect on the parties' existing agreement. ⁸

The only time that the Court of Appeals had previously addressed RCW 63.29.350 was in *Nelson v. McGoldrick*, 73 Wn. App. 763, 871 P.2d

-

⁵ Opinion at 13.

⁶ Opinion at 15.

⁷ Opinion at 17.

⁸ Opinion at 17.

177 (1994). Review was granted in *Nelson*, and RCW 63.29.350 has not come before the supreme court since then. *Nelson v. McGoldrick*, 127 Wn.2d 124, 896 P.2d 1258 (1995). *Nelson* predated the statutory amendments to RCW 63.29.350 that went into effect in 2010 and 2012.

Ten Bridges filed its motion for reconsideration of the opinion in this case on November 16, 2020, and this motion was denied by way of an order entered on December 31, 2020.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with the decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals.

The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with the Washington Supreme Court's decisions in *Nelson v. McGoldrick*, 127 Wn.2d 124, 896 P.2d 1258 (1995) and *Int'l Tracers of Am. v. Hard*, 89 Wn.2d 140, 570 P.2d 131 (1977). While Ten Bridges has argued *Nelson* and *Hard* support its position, the opinion states "neither case is apt because both interpret an earlier version of RCW 63.29.350 that did not include the language at-issue here." ⁹ Ten Bridges disagrees and maintains these cases are apt for the following reasons.

The version of RCW 63.29.350 that was in effect at the time of *Nelson* made it "unlawful for any person to seek or receive from any person

⁹ Opinion at 14, footnote 34.

or contract with any person for any fee or compensation for locating or purporting to locate any property ... in excess of five percent of the value thereof returned to the owner." Nelson, 127 Wn.2d at 138, 896 P.2d 1265. The contract at issue in *Nelson* was an heir hunter's contract that provided for a contingency fee in the amount of 50% of the value of the property, which is the same percentage of recovery that Ten Bridges and Ms. Asano agreed to if Ten Bridges was able to obtain all of the surplus proceeds. The heir hunter did not disclose the location of the property before the contract was signed. *Id.* The supreme court held the statute did not apply because the property at issue was held by Panorama as opposed to the government, and the court declined to declare the contract to be void or illegal as a matter of law. *Id.* Unlike the Court of Appeals in this case, the Washington Supreme Court did not apply the substance over form rule to interpret the statute and determine whether the statute applied to the parties' contract. Id.

The issue in *Hard* was whether a property locator's contingent fee contract violated RCW 63.28.330 (the precursor to RCW 63.29.350), which contract stemmed from shares of stock being held by the state as a result of escheat proceedings. That contract provided the locator with a 40% contingent fee, and although the locator knew of the existence and location of the abandoned shares that belonged to the late owner's estate, it did not

disclose that information to the estate's heirs at the time the contract was entered into. *Id.* at 142, 570 P.2d 131. At the time of *Hard*, RCW 63.28.330 made it "unlawful for any person to seek or receive from any person or contract with any person for any fee or compensation for locating or purporting to locate any property ... in excess of five percent of the value thereof returned to such owner." *Hard*, 89 Wn.2d at 1433, fn. 1, 570 P.2d 131. The trial court limited the locator's recovery to 5% of the ultimate distribution, and the supreme court affirmed this ruling. Unlike the Court of Appeals in this case, the Washington Supreme Court did not apply the substance over form rule to interpret the statute and determine whether the statute applied to the parties' contract.

The current version of RCW 63.29.350 provides "[i]t is unlawful for any person to seek or receive from any person or contract with any person for any fee or compensation for locating or purporting to locate any property ... in excess of five percent of the value thereof returned to such owner." ¹⁰ This part of the statute that describes the reach of the law, namely the specific kind of behavior the statute prohibits, is identical to the corresponding parts of the statute that were in effect when *Nelson* and *Hard* were decided. While the current version of the statute has been amended

_

¹⁰ Opinion at 9; RCW 63.29.350.

since those cases were decided to apply to a wider range of abandoned property, the language above has not changed one bit. As such, Ten Bridges disagrees with the statement in the opinion that "[n]either case is apt because both interpret an earlier version of RCW 63.29.350 that did not include the language at-issue here." The reality is the opinion conflicts with *Nelson* and *Hard*.

The opinion also states the statute applies to the Guandai and Asano transactions because "Ten Bridges relied upon having located the surplus funds for a fee of almost 50 percent of the funds as compensation for obtaining the other 50 percent for Asano." ¹¹ But this assertion misses the point. Ten Bridges never received a fee to locate or purportedly locate property, as it disclosed the existence and location of the surplus proceeds to Ms. Guandai and Ms. Asano up front and free of charge in the quitclaim deeds. Ten Bridges only stood to earn a fee in the *Asano* case if it actually procured or obtained (as opposed to simply located) more than fifty percent of the surplus proceeds. RCW 63.29.350 does not prohibit this arrangement. And in *Nelson*, the Washington Supreme Court refused to declare the property locator's 50% contingent fee to be illegal under RCW 63.29.350 or otherwise.

-

¹¹ Opinion at 16.

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