FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/1/2021 2:01 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 994650

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TEN BRIDGES, LLC,

Petitioner,

v.

TERESIA GUANDAI and MIDAS MULLIGAN, LLC,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITIONER'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Court of Appeals Case No. 800841-I

BERRY & BECKETT, PLLP Guy W. Beckett, WSBA #14939 1708 Bellevue Ave. Seattle, WA 98122 Tel: 206.441.5444

Attorneys for Respondents

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

III. ARGUMENT

Ten Bridges appears to argue that the Court should accept review of

⁵ Rather than filing its Petition for Review in the Court of Appeals as directed by RAP 13.4(a), Ten Bridges filed its Petition for Review in the Supreme Court.

its Petition under RAP 13.4(b)(1) (review should be granted if the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court) and 13.4(b)(4) (review should be granted if the Petition "involves an issue of substantial justice that should be determined by the Supreme Court"). 6 However, neither basis asserted by Ten Bridges provides justification for the Court to grant the Petition.

A. The Court of Appeals Decision Does Not Conflict With a Decision of the Supreme Court.

Ten Bridges argues that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *Nelson v. McGoldrick*, 127 Wn.2d 124, 896 P.2d 1258 (1995), and *Int'l Tracers of Am. v. Hard*, 89 Wn.2d 140, 570 P.2d 131 (1977). However, it does not, and RAP 13.4(b)(1) provides no basis to grant review.

1. Nelson v. McGoldrick:

In *Nelson*, the court ruled on the unconscionability of an heir-locating contract and the application of RCW 63.29.350 to property held by a private company. There, an heir-locating company contacted the widow of a decedent who had owned shares of stock held by an out-of-state corporation that the widow was entitled to receive, but who was unaware of their existence. The company refused to tell the widow anything about

⁶ Ten Bridges also argues that the decision conflicts with published decisions of the Court of Appeals, *see* Petition at 16-19, but the only Court of Appeals case Ten Bridges cites in support of this contention relates to an issue relevant only to the companion case decided in the same Opinion, Case No. 80456-1-I, *Ten Bridges, LLC v. Yukiko Asano*: whether a second Quit Claim Deed delivered to Ten Bridges by Ms. Asano after the Superior Court had invalidated the first Quit Claim Deed under RCW 63.29.350 is also illegal, invalid, and unenforceable under RCW 63.29.350, or whether it is severable from the illegal agreement and therefore enforceable. *See* 15 Wn. App.2d at 239. Ten Bridges has therefore failed to identify a published Court of Appeals decision with which the decision in this case conflicts, so RAP 13.4(b)(2) provides no basis for the Supreme Court to accept review of the Petition.

the shares unless she promised to give it half their value. The widow signed a contract with the company agreeing to pay it half the value of the property she received. But once the widow received the shares, she refused to pay the company and the company sued to enforce the agreement. 127 Wn.2d at 128.

The widow moved for summary judgment, arguing that the agreement was illegal, unconscionable, and against public policy. *Id.* The trial court granted the widow's motion, holding that the contract was unconscionable. *Id.* The Court of Appeals reversed the summary judgment and remanded the case to the trial court to determine whether the heir-finder had performed its obligations under the agreement. *Id.*

The Supreme Court accepted review and ruled that the contract could be unconscionable and that contract unconscionability can in some circumstances be decided as a matter of law, but remanded that issue to the trial court for further development of the evidentiary record. *Id.* at 133-34.

As to whether RCW 63.29.350 applied to the agreement, at that time, the statute only applied to property that had been "reported or paid or delivered to the Department of Revenue." *Id.* at 138. The property at issue—stock in an out-of-state corporation—had never been "reported or paid or delivered" to the Department of Revenue, but instead was under the corporation's control. *Id.* at 138. Because the statute on its face applied only to property that had been "reported or paid or delivered" to the Department of Revenue, the Court held that RCW 63.29.350 did not apply

to the agreement, and there was no reason for it to further examine the transaction to determine whether the statute applied to it. *Id*.

The Court of Appeals decision here does not conflict with *Nelson* because it is not based on the unconscionability of the agreement between Ten Bridges and Ms. Guandai, and the proceeds here are not held by a private company. After *Nelson*, RCW 63.29.350 was amended so that it now applies not only to property that has been "reported or paid or delivered" to the Department of Revenue, it also applies to, *inter alia*, "funds held by a county that are proceeds from a foreclosure for delinquent property taxes, assessments, or other liens." RCW 63.29.350(1) (Emphasis supplied). The surplus proceeds from the Sheriff's foreclosure sale of Ms. Guandai's condominium unit are held by the King County Superior Court Clerk, and therefore by King County. 15 Wn. App.2d at 235. Because the version of RCW 63.29.350 considered by the Supreme Court in *Nelson* was significantly different than the current version, the decision that RCW 63.29.350 prohibits the agreement between Ten Bridges and Ms. Guandai does not conflict with *Nelson*.8

⁷ While Ten Bridges challenged in the Superior Court and in the Court of Appeals whether funds held by a county clerk are "funds held by a county," it did not discuss in the Petition the Court of Appeals ruling that surplus proceeds held by the clerk of the court are in fact held by a county; therefore, the issue is not before the Court in considering the Petition. *See infra* at 12-13.

⁸ Ten Bridges misleadingly asserts, "[I]n *Nelson*, the Washington Supreme Court refused to declare the property locator's 50% contingent fee to be illegal under RCW 63.29.350 or otherwise." *See* Petition at 14. The Court "refused" to rule that the fee agreement was illegal under RCW 63.29.350 because at that time, for the statute to apply the funds had to have been "reported or paid or delivered to the Department of Revenue," and they had not. Having determined that no funds had been reported or paid or delivered to the Department of Revenue and that therefore RCW 63.29.350 was inapplicable to the case, the court did not further discuss the statute.

2. Int'l Tracers of Am. v. Hard:

In *Hard*, this court held that Washington law applied to an heir-locating contract for property held by Washington's Department of Revenue, and that the predecessor to RCW 63.29.350 (RCW 63.28.330) did not violate due process. There, a Florida company engaged in the business of locating heirs of decedents whose property would otherwise escheat to the state in which the property was located entered into a 40% contingent fee agreement with heirs of a Washington decedent who hired the company to locate assets of their decedent. The heir-locating company performed and assets were recovered by the decedent's estate from the Department of Revenue, but the heirs refused to pay the company, and the company sued. Among other arguments, the company claimed that RCW 63.28.330 did not apply. The trial court rejected that argument and entered judgment in favor of the company, but only for the 5% fee permitted by the statute. 89 Wn.2d at 143.

On appeal, the company disputed the application of the statute, but only on the basis that Florida law, and not Washington law, applied to the dispute. The company did not argue that the statute did not apply to the transaction under Washington law. Therefore, when this court affirmed the trial court's ruling that Washington law applied to the transaction, there was no reason to examine the agreement further to determine whether RCW 68.28.330 applied to it. *Id.* at 144-45.

The company further argued that if Washington law applied to the agreement, RCW 63.28.330 was unconstitutional because it violated the

company's due process rights. *Id.* at 147. The Court rejected this argument, invoking the long-established rule that "[a] state may, in the proper exercise of its police power, fix maximum rates or prices for services rendered." *Id.* at 148 (citations omitted).

The rulings in *Hard* are not inconsistent with the Court of Appeals decision here. Indeed, the *Hard* court's analysis of the constitutionality of RCW 63.28.330 actually supports the Court of Appeals decision that RCW 63.29.350 applies to the transaction here and invalidates the contract and the Deed delivered by Ms. Guandai to Ten Bridges:

A statute is presumed constitutional unless the challenging party proves unconstitutionality beyond a reasonable doubt. For all we know from the face of the statute, the legislature might well have believed the practice prohibited was the evil of extortionate charges. The statute was carefully confined to apply only in cases of fees for locating or purporting to locate property "which he knows has been reported or paid or delivered to the (Department of Revenue) pursuant to this chapter. RCW 63.28.330. There is no showing the evil of extortionate charges did not exist. Such an evil may reasonably be conceived to have existed.

Id. at 148 (internal citations omitted, emphasis supplied). Since *Hard* was decided, the statute has been repealed, recodified, and amended, and the transactions to which the 5% statutory cap on finder's fees applies now includes those involving funds held by a "county," as in this case. RCW 63.29.350(1); see also 15 Wn. App.2d at 235. The "evil of extortionate charges" sought to be eliminated by the statute still exists and public policy supports the prohibition of contracts like the one Ten Bridges entered into with Ms. Guandai, and the invalidation of the Deed Ms.

Guandai delivered to Ten Bridges as part of the contract.

In summary, the Court of Appeals decision is entirely consistent with the decisions in *Nelson* and *Hard*. RAP 13.4(b)(1) provides no basis for the Court to accept review of Ten Bridges' Petition.

B. Ten Bridges' Petition Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Justice That Should be Determined by the Supreme Court.

While this case involves an issue of substantial justice—the prevention of predators like Ten Bridges from equity-skimming by purchasing former homeowners' rights to obtain surplus proceeds from foreclosure sales for a fraction of their actual value—it is not necessary for the Supreme Court to accept review and affirm the Court of Appeals to achieve that result. There are no decisions from any other division of the Court of Appeals with which the published decision below is at odds, and it is therefore binding on all trial courts in the State. *American Discount Corp.*, 129 Wn. App. at 355. The Court of Appeals decision has the same effect and application as if the Supreme Court had decided the case; there is thus no reason why the Supreme Court "should" accept review of the decision. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Ten Bridges ominously warns that "[i]f the Court of Appeal's opinion is upheld, the determination that RCW 63.29.350 applies in judicial foreclosure lawsuits like this will have widespread and unintended negative consequences throughout Washington." *See* Petition at 5; *see also* Petition at 19. But Ten Bridges never identifies, much less discusses or explains, just what those "negative consequences" will be, or the evidence in the record supporting such a dire prediction. This is because there will

be no such "negative consequences": the Court of Appeals decision will only help former homeowners who have unfortunately lost their homes to foreclosure retain the equity in their homes by prohibiting the onerous and unjust equity-skimming practice in which Ten Bridges engaged here. Ten Bridges' mere contention that the decision is wrong is insufficient to prove that this case presents "an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Having failed to meet its burden to establish a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b), Ten Bridges insists that the Court of Appeals decision is wrong, but provides no argument for its contention that this establishes sufficient basis for the Court to grant review. Ten Bridges vaguely asserts that the application of RCW 63.29.350 to invalidate the agreement between Ten Bridges and Ms. Guandai is improper "for three different reasons," but never discusses or explains, or even identifies, what those "three reasons" are. *See* Petition at 1, 7, & 19. Ms. Guandai therefore discusses the "three reasons" considered and rejected by the Court of Appeals. *See* 15 Wn. App.2d at 233.

1. RCW 63.29.350 applies to more than just proceeds from the foreclosure of government liens.

Ten Bridges' argues that the legislative history of RCW 63.29.350 confirms that the statute applies only to government liens. But because the statute is plain and unambiguous, examination of the legislative history is neither warranted nor appropriate.

In construing a statute, the courts' primary objective is to ascertain and "give effect to the legislature's intent." *TracFone Wireless, Inc. v.*

Dep't of Revenue, 170 Wn.2d 273, 281, 242 P3d 810 (2010). Where a "statute's meaning is plain on its face, the court must give effect to that plain meaning as an expression of legislative intent." State ex rel. Citizens Against Tolls (CAT) v. Murphy, 151 Wn.2d 226, 242, 88 P.3d 375 (2004).

Plain language in a statute that is not ambiguous does not require further construction. *State v. Delgado*, 148 Wn.2d 723, 727, 63 P.3d 792 (2003). If a statute is unambiguous or plain on its face, the Court must apply the statute as written and assume that the legislature meant exactly what it said. *TracFone Wireless*, 170 Wn.2d at 281. "A statute is ambiguous if it can reasonably be interpreted in two or more ways, but it is not ambiguous simply because different interpretations are conceivable." *Berger v. Sonneland*, 144 Wn.2d 91, 105, 26 P.3d 257 (2001). If the language of the statute is unambiguous, a reviewing court is to rely solely on the statutory language. *State v. Roggenkamp*, 153 Wn.2d 614, 621, 106 P.3d 186 (2005) (citation omitted).

RCW 63.29.350 is plain and unambiguous on its face. It prohibits fees in excess of 5% for locating surplus proceeds from the foreclosure of "delinquent property taxes, assessments, *or other liens.*" (Emphasis supplied). Unpaid condominium association assessments constitute a lien against the unit for which they are levied. RCW 64.34.364(1). Nothing in RCW 63.29.350 states or evinces an intent by the legislature that its application should be limited only to "government liens" as Ten Bridges contends, instead of what the statute plainly states: that it applies to surplus proceeds from the foreclosure of all "other liens." A court may not

add language to an unambiguous statute even if it believes the legislature intended something else but did not adequately express it. *Camp Fin., LLC* v. *Brazington*, 133 Wn. App. 156, 163, 135 P.3d 946 (2006).

Because the statute is plain and unambiguous on its face, any further examination of legislative intent by the Court is neither warranted nor appropriate. *TracFone Wireless*, 170 Wn.2d at 281. Nevertheless, if the Court examines the legislative history, it clearly supports the conclusion that the legislature intended that the statute apply to situations like those present here. When it added the provision in 2010 to the statute making it apply to proceeds from the foreclosure of all "other liens," the House Bill Report for the legislation stated,

This is, essentially, a consumer protection bill that addresses a consumer protection problem stemming from the current wave of mortgage foreclosures. Following foreclosure proceedings, counties often receive excess funds from the foreclosure sale that should be reimbursed to the former home owners subject to such foreclosure. Unscrupulous individuals have set up businesses for assisting foreclosure victims in identifying and obtaining any funds due them and then charge unconscionable fees for doing so. The result has been the further victimization of those who have already lost their homes. This bill will help to remedy this problem by limiting the fees that can be charged by these businesses. It also provides remedies under the CPA.

House Bill Report HB 2428 (as passed Legislature on March 4, 2010). CP 185-187. This demonstrates that the legislature was aware of the limitations of the statute as it existed prior to the 2010 amendments and purposely chose not to restrict the statute's application only to government

⁹ A copy of the House Bill Report is included in the Appendix to this Brief.

liens. Ten Bridges' suggestion that it did is supported neither by the plain and unambiguous language of the statute nor the legislative history.

2. Funds held in the King County Superior Court Registry are held by a "county."

The Court of Appeals properly rejected Ten Bridges' second "reason" that RCW 63.29.350 doesn't apply to the transaction between Ms.

Guandai and Ten Bridges: that funds held in a superior court's registry are not "funds held by a county." 10

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